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THE CLERK OF THE COURT:  Will the defendants stand for a minute please.  Are you John Edward Joynson?

THE DEFENDANT:  I am.

THE CLERK OF THE COURT:  Are you Robert Smedley?

THE DEFENDANT:  I am.

THE CLERK OF THE COURT:  Thank you. Sit down.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Just in relation to the defendants, essentially I’ve been asked to excuse any dock officers certainly for today and subject to review potentially for the trial, I’m happy to do that.  Once the trial proper as it were starts, once we have a jury in then I will need them to sit in the dock but subject to representations I won’t require a dock officer.  
MR. DYER:  I’m entirely content with that, your Honour.

MR. SWIFT:  I’m grateful, thank you, your Honour.

MISS HUSSAIN:  Thank you.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you.
UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Excuse me, I’ll call the case just in case -----

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you.  [Pause]  [Discussion with clerk re. interested parties coming to court]  Mr. Dyer?
MR. DYER:  May it please your Honour, in this matter I appear for the Crown.  As your Honour knows my learned friend Miss Hussain appears for Christopher Joynson …..

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  
MR. DYER:  ….. and my learned friend Mr. Swift for Robert Smedley.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  We are hoping that this morning we can start the process of empanelling a jury.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  There are jury questionnaires and the lists that went with them which I think the court staff have already taken.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes, and in that sense I anticipate that the process has already begun.

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  In that they’ve been taken downstairs for distribution to the 80 …..

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  ….. and in principle I will await completion of those questionnaires and then, subject to representations, conduct the sift that I indicated in my email.

MR. DYER:  Yes, and I imagine that will take some time, your Honour.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  It will.  I mean from experience it takes a while for the questionnaires to be completed and handed in, quite often the panel members have questions for the staff downstairs.

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  But once we get to that point I anticipate it will take me an hour plus to do the sift.  

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  So it may well be that it’s this afternoon before I’m enable to indicate numbers.
MR. DYER:  Certainly.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  As far as other matters are concerned, your Honour, jury bundles and sequence of events chart, I think your Honour has certainly a sequence of events chart?  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes, I -----

MR. DYER:  That’s not a bundle.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  I have a chart and an earlier version of the bundle which were given to me in April.  I understand the sequence of events chart is unchanged, I understand the bundle is changed and you were good enough to send a copy in via the court office.  Not for the first time I’m afraid it hasn’t made it from there to me and I attach no blame whatsoever to the Crown, I had that experience in a previous life, but I haven’t received the bundle.  

MR. DYER:  Well in any event, one of things that needs to be attended to this morning by those instructing me is to make sure that the bundles are all correct …..

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  ….. and identical.  So if your Honour had had one I would have asked for it so that we could make sure that it is the same.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  Out of an abundance of caution I would just like to double check that your Honour’s sequence of events chart is exactly the same as that that the jury will have.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Right.  I don’t have it up with me but it can be passed through at some stage certainly, all right.

MR. DYER:  But I anticipate, there is some colour copying that needs to be done but I anticipate that will all be done by the end of the day …..

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Very good.

MR. DYER:  ….. so the jury will have what they need.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Is the Crown’s bundle paginated?

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Does it have internal pagination?

MR. DYER:  It has internal pagination in each section and I’ve done an index …..
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  ….. which I think is correct in terms of pagination, I’ve been through it myself.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  So hopefully that will enable the jury to follow the documents certainly that will be referred to in the opening and during the case.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  We’ve received a jury bundle from Mr. Joynson and now from Mr. Smedley.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  I haven’t had a chance to look at Mr. Smedley’s bundle properly.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.

MR. DYER:  But will do so.  As far as Mr. Joynson’s is concerned I have looked at that in detail.  I didn’t have the paginated copy but I’ve highlighted the areas of dispute as far as admissibility and so on are concerned.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  And I think there needs to be some further discussion about that and perhaps rulings in relation to that.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  Rulings at what stage?  Is - - do the defence intend that these bundles should be introduced during the prosecution case?  I mean are they intended for the jury at all and if so are they intended to be introduced during the Crown’s case?

MISS HUSSAIN:  The purpose behind compiling them, compiling the bundle in the way that it has was really to set out the parameters of the defence case so that we would have in one composite place those documents that might be conceivably relevant.  So at this stage there is a good deal of refinement that still needs to take place.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  So it’s not a jury bundle as such?

MISS HUSSAIN:  As such, no.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No, okay.  

MISS HUSSAIN:  In addition to the documents that are within that bundle are of course documents which might be put to witnesses during cross-examination.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MISS HUSSAIN:  What I propose to do, subject to the leave of the court, is to provide my learned friend and the court with a witness pack in relation to each witness in advance so that it can be seen which documents might be referred to.  Obviously Mr. Joynson understands that that’s not something that would go before the witness, this is simply so that all the parties can be aware and that will avoid any difficulties whilst I’m putting the document to a witness.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  Well, obviously in principle the putting of a document to a witness is simply governed by the relevant rules of evidence.

MISS HUSSAIN:  It is.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  And a document that is or emanates from the witness him or herself can be put to that witness for cross-examination purposes.

MISS HUSSAIN:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  I - - one thought simply crossed my mind in the context of this case.  If for example there is going to be cross-examination of a given witness on an extensive body of email exchanges, if for example, is there anything to be said for that witness being asked in advance of giving evidence at all to acquaint themselves with the relevant email exchanges?  It’s not a requirement of law but as a matter of practicality I simply raise the question.

MISS HUSSAIN:  There may be some documents that that could be done …..

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MISS HUSSAIN:  ….. in respect of which and yes, we will give that some thought and where it’s appropriate we would encourage that.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Because otherwise we may end up practically with the situation where the witness simply needs to sit down for half an hour to read through a body of emails and think their way back into the correspondence.

MISS HUSSAIN:  Yes, absolutely.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MISS HUSSAIN:  I don’t think there will be very many documents …..

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.

MISS HUSSAIN:  ….. that would be of that nature but I can give the court an assurance that I will flag up any such document and consider whether it is appropriate.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Understood.

MISS HUSSAIN:  I think there’s only a few documents in respect of which and they are, they are not voluminous that I would not wish the witness to have in advance but they’re a handful.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  Well as I say, these matters, leaving aside practicalities, these matters come down to questions of the rules of evidence and if the rules do not oblige you to give advance notice of a document then you need not do so.

MISS HUSSAIN:  No, and the only reason why I’m suggesting it is so that we avoid any situation as I’m about to cross-examine where any party wishes to raise an issue.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Quite.

MISS HUSSAIN:  So it’s just out of an abundance of caution.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Understood.

MISS HUSSAIN:  And for the sake of the smooth running of the trial.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you.

MR. SWIFT:  And, your Honour, as far as Mr. Smedley, it’s precisely the same, it was an exercise carried out really to avoid any objection and if we can reach agreement before witnesses are called it will assist the smooth running of the trial.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you.  So likewise, your bundle, which I haven’t seen and that’s not a problem, but your bundle is also not a jury bindle as such?

MR. SWIFT:  Your Honour, no, not as such, it’s to be deployed during cross-examination.  It may be -----

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Deployed in what way?  Would the witness be given a copy of the whole bundle and referred to parts of it or?

MR. SWIFT:  Your Honour, no.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.

MR. SWIFT:  No.  Just relevant documents to the relevant witnesses.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you.  I mean, more generally in relation to bundles, as I indicated in my email, the reason for raising the topic as with a lot of topics I will raise is that I need to look ahead ultimately to directions and a practical consideration with any bundle or any large volume of documentation is simply that there can be different considerations that apply to different documents and if one isn’t careful things can be overlooked in the presentation stage which then lead to difficulties at the summing up stage and there can be all sorts of hidden issues, as I say hearsay might be one in relation to certain things.  Another thing might be, for example, if there were a document, let’s say an email or a letter, in a bundle which could in principle have been put to a witness or witnesses but wasn’t then at the end of the trial that then raises a question about the evidential basis on which the document is before the jury, that sort of thing.  So I’m anxious to avoid any situation where we have arguments about, in effect, admissibility or basis at the end of the trial when the jury already have the documents or indeed arguments about whether things should be taken out of bundles that the jury already have.  So I’m not teaching anyone to suck eggs but I simply want everyone to be clear before a document is introduced before a jury what is the evidential or legal basis for it, it may be agreement or if not, it may require adjudication.
MR. SWIFT:  Your Honour, yes.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.

MR. SWIFT:  I’m grateful.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you.  Anything else about bundles?

MR. DYER:  No, your Honour, not about bundles.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you.

MR. DYER:  As far as other matters are concerned there’s clearly the argument about severance to be dealt with.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  At some point, I presume some point this morning.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  And your Honour has in fact a document from each party in relation to that.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  I do and just on that, what I have is, as it were, the recent skeleton arguments from each party …..

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  ….. and I also have a skeleton argument that was drafted by Miss Kenny then of counsel which accompanied the bad character application last year.

MR. DYER:  Your Honour has the advantage over me there.  

MISS HUSSAIN:  I have that.

MR. DYER:  I don’t have it but I’m sure I can get a copy.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Right.  Well it may be that between you you can get a copy or if not my …..

MR. DYER:  I’m sure I can get it.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  ….. copy can be copied.

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.  

MR. DYER:  So there is that to be dealt with.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  In relation to - - there is one matter that has raised its head in relation to, it touches upon the jury bundle provided on behalf of Mr. Joynson, his Yahoo account and provenance of documents .....

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  ….. and access to his Yahoo account.  I’ve had some limited discussion with my learned friend as to what the position, their position is in relation to access to that account, the Crown have not had access to the Yahoo accounts, there are Yahoo accounts, I understand that Mr. Joynson has at least two, one of them is a Forward Education Yahoo account and one of them is an account, I think it’s cdt@yahoo or something of that nature and it’s referred to within the jury bundle and there’s an email, particular email with an attachment and it’s presented as an attachment, there’s an issue as to the provenance of it.
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  

MR. DYER:  We’ve had some preliminary discussions about that but the Crown will be seeking access to that account in order to know the provenance or otherwise of that document.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Is this in connection with the job application?

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes, and your client’s case is what in relation to that?

MISS HUSSAIN:  That there were two versions of the application form submitted, there was a hard copy that was signed and there was the electronic submission and within the electronic submission, which is the document he’s produced and the email that accompanies it, he had referred to a conversation that he had with a person, Clare, not Clare Timmon[?] who is a witness, explaining that he did have no convictions but cautions.  So there’s a reference to that conversation and also on the form in the section that deals with whether he has convictions he has inserted that he has cautions.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  But that wasn’t the version that was printed off and signed?

MISS HUSSAIN:  No.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.

MISS HUSSAIN:  There is a version that he signed that doesn’t have that on that he was asked to sign.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Right.

MIS HUSSAIN:  In respect of access to that Yahoo account, he accepts that the Crown can have access to the account to any extent necessary to authenticate that email exchange and the document attached to it.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes, all right.

MISS HUSSAIN:  And we’ll have to work out a means of providing access to that.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  All right, thank you.  

MR. DYER:  Just on that, my learned friend - - I was going to seek further clarification of the defence case as your Honour has done.  My learned friend said he was asked to sign that copy, I’m not sure whether that is the defence case or not.  The emails indicate he doesn’t need to send a signed copy.

MISS HUSSAIN:  I’ll double check, that might be my error.

MR. DYER:  But I think we ought to have clarity as to what -----

MISS HUSSAIN:  I will ensure I accurately present the position, I’ll double check in relation to that.
MR. DYER:  Thank you.  As far as witnesses are concerned, your Honour.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  Clearly there’s been some confusion about Friday.  At the moment -----
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Can I just say, as per my email, the - - I hadn’t appreciated that the parties had been told by the court we weren’t sitting Friday.

MR. DYER:  No.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  I am happy to proceed on that basis.  The commitment that I have which affects Friday in fact was only the afternoon but the parties have been told otherwise and I’m happy to proceed on that basis and I understand that one of defence counsel may be able to use that day, maybe, to deal with a matter that might otherwise affect next week.

MR. HUSSAIN:  That’s right.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MISS HUSSAIN:  I’m awaiting news from the Central Criminal Court.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MISS HUSSAIN:  As to whether that is a possibility.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MISS HUSSAIN:  I have a fear that Judge Dodson is away and not back until Monday but I will know -----
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  This week, all right.

MISS HUSSAIN:  Yes, I’ll know for sure.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.

MR. DYER:  Right -----

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  So, well listen, you’ve heard what I’ve said …..
MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  ….. I leave it to parties to indicate their preference ultimately but I don’t mind which, we can either sit Friday morning or not sit at all, it’s -----

MR. DYER:  Right.  Well for the time being I’m not going to seek to have witnesses here on Friday morning unless all counsel have agreed that they’re available on that morning.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  As I understand it the current position is we have witnesses warned for Thursday, not Wednesday, they’re two video link witnesses, Sheila Marr and Julie Dale.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  We need to think in advance as to documents that they will need to be referred to.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  We’ll have plenty of time to do that but we need to make sure that they have them.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Absolutely.

MR. DYER:  And perhaps have a chance to look at them.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  So there will be a certain amount of work to be done in preparing and making sure that they are in a position to give their evidence and refer to documents.  I need to look again at the detail of where they are and how we can do that …..

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  ….. but I anticipate that that’s going to be the first evidence that we hear unless your Honour wishes that I seek to have witnesses here on the Wednesday.  I’m anticipating opening the case on the Tuesday but there may be some other legal matters to be dealt with.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Can you enlarge on that?  Or not?

MR. DYER:  Well, no.  There is an issue that my learned friend has raised in relation to disclosure, it’s a fairly discrete matter that has arisen recently, there may be some argument in relation to that and there may not but I don’t think it would take very long.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  So just working through the week.  So far as today is concerned, jury empanelment process up to but excluding actual ballot and obviously actual empanelment.  So those things to be deferred overnight till tomorrow, that’s on the assumption we have sufficient numbers to get to that point, I very much hope we do.  Again as I’ve indicated in my email my intention is to empanel 14, the two spares so to speak up to the conclusion of the prosecution opening, opening in principle tomorrow.  Anything else beyond opening tomorrow?  With the jury I mean. 
MR. DYER:  Well, no, we have no evidence -----

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  I’m suggesting there should be …..

MR. DYER:  No.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  I’m just trying to get an idea of -----

MR. DYER:  The opening itself I wouldn’t - - in principle wouldn’t take that long but they need to, to a certain extent, familiarise themselves with some of the documents.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Very much so.

MR. DYER:  So -----

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  But that’s part of it.

MR. DYER:  It’s part of it.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  I mean the delivery of your written opening I understand in itself but including the presentation of documentation, will the whole thing take most of tomorrow?

MR. DYER:  I wouldn’t have thought it would take that long.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.

MR. DYER:  I would have thought a couple of hours to do that.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right, and the rest of the time tomorrow?

MR. DYER:  Well, again there may be -----

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Sorting out.  

MR. DYER:  I don’t know whether there are any other legal matters.

MR. SWIFT:  Your Honour, yes, I’m sure all the time can be used to resolve issues in relation to the jury bindles which are quite extensive and the disclosure issues.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.  Wednesday?

MR. DYER:  Well this is why I’m raising it now …..

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  ….. I’m wondering whether we should make efforts to see whether we can have other witnesses here on Wednesday, if they can be rescheduled.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  We can make some preliminary enquiries.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  I’m simply anxious that we make proper use of the available time this week …..

MR. DYER:  Absolutely.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  ….. and I entirely understand, particularly in the first few days of a trial, that there may be a good deal of matters that need to be dealt with that don’t involve the jury, whether it’s sorting out, whether it is adjudication, that I understand, but if in fact there is no real obstacle to proceeding with the jury then I’d like to proceed with the jury and if that means in reality that we need evidence to be available for calling on Wednesday then I’d like you to arrange that.

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.  My intended sitting hours again I indicated, it’s all subject to representation, but as I say I have in mind to sit 10 till 1 with a substantial mid- morning or mid-session break and then 2 or 2:15 through until 4:15 or thereabouts again with a mid-session break, maybe a shorter one.  I’m happy to receive any representations.  If you would rather sit a little shorter and have as it were 1 hour sessions I’ll consider that but otherwise that’s my proposal.

MR. DYER:  I’m certainly content with that your Honour.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MISS HUSSAIN:  Your Honour, I’m content with all of that.  The one matter I’d wish for the court to be aware of is that although the prosecution evidence is not as extensive as it could have been in terms of pages, there is such an amount of defence material that’s been generated I can only deal with matters, really, realistically, as we go along and refine the process and I do hope to use time in the mornings to copy documents that might be required to put to witnesses for example.  So I hope I can achieve all of that and aim for a 10 o’clock start and if there’s any difficulty on any given day then I’d hope to communicate that to your Honour in advance.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  Well, we’ll see how we get along.  What I want to avoid so far as possible is giving the jury a start time and then not being ready with the jury.  So if there are problems then really I need to know the night before before I give the jury their start time.

MISS HUSSAIN:  Of course, I’ve already planned and worked a timetable out in order to be ready so start at 10 and if there is any particular difficulty then I would inform your Honour the night before.  If we were to revert -----

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  It may be for this week certainly it’s better to start at 10:30, hearing this.  

MISS HUSSAIN:  Thank you.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  That may be the position generally but certainly for this week I’ll leave it at 10:30.

MISS HUSSAIN:  I’m grateful, thank you.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  10:30 for the jury that is, that doesn’t mean we can’t sit earlier if we need to.

MISS HUSSAIN:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.

MR. DYER:  Well one of the matters that occurs to me, your Honour, if my learned friends are kind enough to indicate in advance documents that the witnesses should see then obviously it’s helpful to -----

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  It needs to be early enough for the witness to see them.

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  

MR. DYER:  To a certain extent the time of the attendance of the witness is out of my control, obviously we ask them to be here in good time.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  But if they are to read emails, and it’s not always easy to read email chains, then obviously that needs to be done before they get into the witness box so that they’re prepared.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  Yes, noted, thank you.  

MR. DYER:  Those are all matters that I was going to raise at this stage your Honour.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you very much.  Miss Hussain, anything to raise?

MISS HUSSAIN:  No, thank you.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Mr. Swift?  

MR. SWIFT:  No, thank you, your Honour.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.  Bad character and severance.  Do you want to see first of all the skeleton argument from Miss Kenny?

MR. DYER:  I probably ought to.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Certainly, all right.

MR. DYER:  Yes, I apologise that I don’t have it.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No, no, not at all, it was quite some time ago.

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.  Well is there anything else that we either can or should deal with now otherwise I’ll rise and give you a little time just to see that.

MR. DYER:  No, your Honour. 

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.  Can we resume at 20 to?

MR. DYER:  Certainly.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right, and that’s subject to any update that I may receive in respect of the questionnaires because essentially I think that needs to be my priority, once the questionnaires have been completed I need to get on with that on the basis that we can fit in the argument later if necessary.

MR. DYER:  Yes.   

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  But otherwise 20 to.  I know the defendants haven’t perhaps strictly surrendered but for the avoidance of doubt I give a general direction for bail until further order within the precincts of the court during the morning and afternoon sessions, obviously once we get to the lunch hour they can leave the building if they wish to.  Anything else at this stage?

MR. SWIFT:  No, thank you, your Honour.

MISS HUSSAIN:  No, thank you.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you, please don’t wait.  

- Short adjournment -

MR. DYER:  Your Honour, I’ve had a chance to look at the documents drafted by my learned friend Miss Kenny.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  Obviously at a very much earlier stage in these proceedings when the indictments took a different form.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Quite.

MR. DYER:  I had seen in outline the original bad character application so there are no surprises in the document or documents.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.

MR. DYER:  In relation to what are called items 3 and 4 I’ve dealt with those at the end of my written submission.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes, not pursued.

MR. DYER:  Not pursued for obvious reasons in relation to the evidence and so at this stage it would be my submission that your Honour is determining an application for severance, it’s clearly linked to bad character and potentially cross-admissibility but the definitive ruling that’s sought at this stage is a ruling that the indictment be severed.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  I understand that but just to be clear, in terms of the four items in the bad character application, 3 and 4 you have referred to.  Item 1, as I understand it but I invite the defence to say otherwise, item 1 in light of the amended indictment is now accepted as being not bad character because it is the basis of a charge on the indictment. 

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  So it’s, on the face it falls within section 98(a) of the Criminal Justice Act.

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  In terms of item 2, that is described in the application as being the fact of the criminal cautions in 2000 and 2007 and one of the things I’d just like to be clear about is what is meant by the fact of the cautions.  Is it the bare description of the charges coupled with the dates of the caution or does it go wider than that and in either case embrace any of what are said to be the circumstances, and more generally what is it that the Crown want in in respect of those cautions and on what basis.

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Because the fact of the cautions, subject to any contrary representation, is a necessary part of the Crown’s case in respect of count 4 and indeed count 5.

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  But to what extent, if any, in respect of either caution does the Crown wish to go further and if so on what basis?

MR. DYER:  Certainly, I can set that out.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  Could I start with the second caution?

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  2007?

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  That relates to a failure to disclose the first caution and it also relates to Lillington Primary School.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  Does the summary of that is Miss Kenny’s skeleton argument accurately reflect the position?

MR. DYER:  Would your Honour excuse me a moment?

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Certainly.  I’m looking at paragraph 13 and she wrote:  “The caution in 2007 for obtaining a pecuniary advantage by deception involved Christopher Joynson giving a false account on applying for a job at Lillington Primary School of the circumstances giving rise to his first caution”.  

MR. DYER:  Not entirely.  There is a statement, as your Honour knows, from Davinder Jandu who is the headteacher of Lillington.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  This statement wasn’t available to my learned friend Miss Kenny.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.

MR. DYER:  It’s at page 244 and it sets out the events that led to the discovery of the, or their discovery of the caution.  There are other matters referred to in that statement of course.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  So it was an application for a job at Lillington Primary School?

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  And the application in principle required disclosure of any caution but Mr. Joynson did what?

MR. DYER:  Well, he failed to inform them of the caution that he had and that’s the reason that he accepted this caution for obtaining a pecuniary advantage.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes, so the pecuniary advantage obtained is the job …..

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  ….. or as it were the monetary value of the job and the deception was the representation as to an absence of criminal record in circumstances where there’s in fact a caution.  

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  The detail of it is set out in the statement of Mr. Jandu.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  There are other aspects to his suspension and resignation but that is correct, your Honour’s analysis.  The Crown would seek, in relation to that, for the jury to know those bare facts, that is was a failure to disclose the first caution that led to him accepting the second caution and it related to the job at Lillington.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes, because it’s, do I understand correctly, that the Crown say that what was done in respect of the Lillington Primary School job application is comparable to one aspect of what was done in the context of the present job application?

MR. DYER:  Absolutely.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  There’s a second relevance to it of course, because the third -----

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  On the Crown’s allegation I stress, yes.

MR. DYER:  Yes, on the Crown’s allegation, that the third element, the third misrepresentation, alleged misrepresentation, relates to the reason he’s given for leaving Lillington Primary School on his application form, it ties in with the failure to disclose to Edge Hill his cautions because he of course tells them that it was the end of a fixed term contract.  It wasn’t.  We know from Mr. Jandu or the jury will hear from Mr. Jandu the circumstances in which his employment at Lillington finished and so as far as the particulars are concerned, 2 and 3 in count 4 are connected, clearly.  
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  So the Crown seek to put before the jury the fact that there was a failure to disclose to Lillington Primary School his previous caution and that is why he accepted the caution for obtaining the pecuniary advantage because of his employment there that he obtained.  Of course, the Crown will seek to adduce the evidence of Mr. Jandu to set out the true circumstances in which he came to leave but that’s a slightly different matter, that concerns sub-paragraph or paragraph 3 of count 4.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  As far as the first caution is concerned, as I indicated in the written submission, the nature of it is not of great relevance, it’s the fact of a caution, the fact of the caution.  There is a brief summary of what took place and that’s contained within the prosecution document.  The Crown are content that the information in relation to that is limited.  Whether that is by simply avoiding direct reference to the nature of the offence or a short summary, the form of words. is a matter which the Crown would say could be discussed between counsel and with your Honour but there isn’t, in my submission, sufficient embarrassment or prejudice if the jury are given limited information about that original caution to support an application to sever these counts.  That’s the essence of the prosecution submission in relation to the first caution.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Does the nature, in terms of bare description of the type of offence, does the nature of the 2001 matter have any significance in this case in the context of work in an educational sphere?  In other words, is it - - the Crown’s case as I understand it is that the 2001 caution was plainly disclosable by an applicant in the context of the type of work applied for.

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  If the jury do not know the nature of the 2001 caution then some of the force of that observation or argument may fall away.  I’m not saying it should or shouldn’t be in, I just want to make sure that the relevant considerations are tackled at this stage.

MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  What it is that the Crown would be content for the jury to know in respect of the 2001 caution?  I appreciate the defence say severance but what is it that the Crown would want in?

MR. DYER:  Well, in the first instance the Crown would be content for the jury to know what is contained in paragraph 9 of the prosecution document.  That is a short summary, it puts the incident into context.  Does your Honour have -----
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes, the summary in your skeleton argument.

MR. DYER:  Because it does put the matter into context.  If the jury just hear the label of the offence of course it, there is potential danger there I accept, because of the label given to the offence.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  So, all right, so - - just give me a moment.  You say that the jury should be told that the 2001 caution was for child abduction coupled with circumstances as outlined in paragraph 9 of your skeleton argument.

MR. DYER:  That is the contention, yes, because I would submit that it does put the incident into context.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  But even if, even if it’s thought that there’s too much prejudice from that there is the further step that could be taken to give the jury even less information about it but of course then there’s a danger of other speculation as to what the offence might be which is, I accept, not an ideal situation, but the -----

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Could it be done in some, and only by agreement, but could it be done in some rolled up way that didn’t involve referring to the nature of the offence or alleged offence or any circumstances but summarised it as being something that would have disqualified him from working in the field for which he was applying or something of that sort?

MR. DYER:  I don’t think it could be rolled up in that way.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.

MR. DYER:  I don’t think the Crown could go that far.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.

MR. DYER:  That is why the -----

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Or if not disqualify constituted an obstacle or an impediment or something.

MR. DYER:  The Crown don’t go that far, they say it’s something that should have been disclosed so it could be considered.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Okay.

MR. DYER:  So, and being fair to the defence, the Crown don’t go further than that.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.

MR. DYER:  And so that’s why I’m suggesting that the detail of it, the particulars actually take the sting out of it to a certain extent and properly reflect what actually occurred and it may be the fairest way to deal with it.  I’m clearly open to suggestions as to other ways of dealing with it but it’s not an insurmountable obstacle in my submission.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.  You may have noted in your peripheral vision Mrs. Jones arriving with what I anticipate are the completed questionnaires and for the reasons indicated, subject to representations, I think I ought to break off and deal with those now.  Are there any contrary representations?  If not, I’ll say 2 o’clock.

MISS HUSSAIN:  No, thank you.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.  Anything else to deal with at this stage?

MR. DYER:  No, your Honour.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you.

MR. DYER:  No, although if we could check your Honour’s sequence of events chart at some point.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  Well I’ll ask Mrs. - - I’ll give it to Mrs. Jones when I go downstairs with the questionnaires, downstairs to my chambers that is, and then resume at 2.  Anything else from the defence point of view?

MR. SWIFT:  No, thank you, your Honour.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.  Thank you very much.  I don’t know, I simply say this for the benefit of any onlookers, everyone is of course welcome, it’s a public court, but if you haven’t already appreciated may I make it clear that the trial proper in terms of a jury being sworn, case opened, evidence called, that won’t start earlier than tomorrow, today is a matter of preliminaries, it doesn’t mean they’re not important but it isn’t what perhaps you might regard as the trial proper.  All right.  Anything else at all?

MISS HUSSAIN:  No, thank you.

MR. DYER:  No.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you, 2 o’clock please.  Please don’t wait.  

- Short adjournment -

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  The position on the sift so far is that the numbers are looking promising but I would like your assistance in relation to some of the responses which at the moment I put in the maybe category and before I deal with these, the position is as things stand there is no information beyond what I’m about to read out to you, so to the extent, if any, that it prompts a response along the lines of further information required that is what would have to happen and in practical terms, so far as possible, I want to try to make a decision at this stage, so without further information, but one response in the   - - just find it, sorry, find the section, section 2, or question 2, so essentially connections with the university and the response is this:  “I know Vicky Hall who worked at Edge Hill but not sure if was at Fazak Hospital or Ormskirk”.  Now I may be missing something, I wasn’t entirely sure I was understanding the point of that but is that a problem or is that someone who in fact can go into the yes category?

MR. DYER:  Would your Honour excuse me a moment?

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Please.  

MR. DYER:  It’s not a problem as far as the Crown are concerned, it’s not a name that features.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.  

MR. SWIFT:  I don’t think there’s any issues from the defence.  

MISS HUSSAIN:  If we are in a position where we do have plenty of others, given that she is familiar with a person who is linked to the university and your Honour doesn’t know the extent to which that connection is then perhaps it would be safest just to place her to one side or this potential juror to one side.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Well, at the moment the forms I’m dealing are all, as it were, placed to one side, they’re all in the maybe category, but as to whether we have plenty I don’t know because it will depend in, apart from anything else, on what may or may not happen overnight and suffice it to say that during the course of the morning a couple of people who on the strength of their forms would have been in the yes category have already provided further information which has resulted in a change.
MISS HUSSAIN:  Well, very well.  I ------

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  So - - please.

MISS HUSSAIN:  Forgive me for speaking over you.  
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No, no, but that person isn’t known to your client.

MISS HUSSAIN:  No.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.  All right, well I think I’m inclined to transfer that person to the yeses.  A number of these are people who by whatever route more or less direct have connections with Rainford High School.  So this is now a separate person who indicates they work for St. Helen’s People’s Services, that Rainford High is part of the People’s Services, however the person in question doesn’t know the head of the school.  Is that a problem or is that someone who could sit on the jury?

MR. DYER:  It’s not a problem for the Crown your Honour.

MISS HUSSAIN:  No, I think it’s so remote.  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you.  [Pause]  Another person in respect of question 7 which of course refers to list 2 and a number of listed establishments and the response is:  “Latham High School (former pupil)”.  No further information, years or anything.
MISS HUSSAIN:  May I be permitted to just go to the back of court and remain there for this process?

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Please.  

MISS HUSSAIN:  No objections to that.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you, and?

MR. SWIFT:  I’ve no issue.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  I’m very grateful, thank you.  [Pause]  Another person in connection with question 2, so dealing with Edge Hill University, “Daughter a student approx. 4 to 5 years ago”.  

MR. DYER:  The Crown have no difficulty with that.

MISS HUSSAIN:  Your Honour, given that it’s the daughter and not the person, potential juror, no objections.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you.  [Pause]  Another person, again question 2, “English PGCE at Edge Hill 2001 to 2002”.  

MR. DYER:  The Crown have no problem with that.

MISS HUSSAIN:  And none from Mr. Joynson.  

MR. SWIFT:  Well, your Honour, as far as Mr. Smedley is concerned and relating to that juror he indicates this, at that time when the defendant was employed at the university then it was a much smaller university and campus.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  So you have concerns?

MR. SWIFT:  Your Honour, yes.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right, fine.

MR. SWIFT:  It’s likely the defendant will have spoken to that student.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Fine, take that person out.  64.  Question 7, so again by reference to the list of establishments, it simply says this:  “I have friends who attend Rainford High School”.  

MR. SWIFT:  I’ve no issues, your Honour.  

MISS HUSSAIN:  No issues, thank you.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you.  A separate panel member, “My friend’s daughter goes to Rainford High School”.  

MISS HUSSAIN:  No concerns.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you.  Finally, the final form, question 2, and there are no specifics beyond what I’m about to read out, “Various friends have been students at Edge Hill University”, so no names, no years.  

MISS HUSSAIN:  No objections your Honour.

MR. SWIFT:  No issues your Honour.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Right, thank you.  Just going back, so to the first of these that I mentioned, because the numbers are a bit more comfortable now, the Vicky Hall one, I can take that out if there are concerns.

MISS HUSSAIN:  Could your Honour just remind?

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  “I know Vicky Hall who worked at Edge Hill but not sure if was at Fazakerley Hospital or Ormskirk”.  

MISS HUSSAIN:  I’m probably being overly cautious, it’s just that because nobody       knows …..

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MISS HUSSAIN:  ….. where and how Vicky Hall might fit in.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Very good, well I’ll take that out then in that case.  All right.  Well in the yes category now, as a result of that, we have 30 in the hope I say of balancing 14.  Subject to representations what I would have in mind to do is to have those 30 into court, not intending any embarrassment but simply as part of the precautions to ask them to look to the dock and your clients to look at them to make sure that there’s no visual recognition or if there is proceed accordingly, but then say to the panel essentially that they are people who have either indicated that there are no issues or such issues, if any, as they have flagged up I checked with counsel and there are no problems for the trial and then indicate that giving them overnight to make any further enquiries, check there are no surprise holidays or anything of that sort, with a view to empanelling in the morning.  Is there anything else that I should say to the jury panel at this stage?
MR. DYER:  Not that I can think of your Honour.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.

MISS HUSSAIN:  No, they’re not being put in charge so, no.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No, quite, quite, and once that’s done then return to the severance and bad character argument.

MISS HUSSAIN:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right, anything else at this stage?  

MR. DYER:  No, your Honour.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right, well the other 50 then from the panel of 80 I’ll release back generally into the pool.  Thank you.  Please don’t wait for me.  I anticipate it will take 15 or 20 minutes, maybe a little longer, to get 30 people up into court but as soon as we can do that we’ll reconvene.  Thank you very much.  As I say bail as before, please don’t wait.

- Short adjournment -

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Well our 30 panel members are upstairs and they can come into court shortly.  As I say I intend to take two further precautions, one is to invite them and your clients to look at each other and check that there’s no visual recognition.  Just on that point, it occurs to me because of the logistics in this room and the frosted side panelling it may be more convenient actually if the defendants sit on the back row for this purpose rather than in the dock at this stage.  I take it there’s no objection to that?
MISS HUSSAIN:  No, thank you.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Then the other thing as I say is to indicate to them that I’m going to give them overnight just to check that there isn’t anything else that they’re unaware of, the classically surprise holidays, that sort of thing, with a view then to resuming at 10:30 tomorrow for empanelment.  Anything else at this stage?

MISS HUSSAIN:  No, thank you.  

MR. SWIFT:  No, thank you.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right, thank you very much.  Well if the defendants wouldn’t mind then sitting on the back row.  Can I just indicate at the appropriate stage I will ask Mr. Joynson and Mr. Smedley just to stand up and face the jury panel for the reason indicated and if either of you recognise anyone or believe you do please indicate and likewise I’ll ask the panel to do the same thing.  Thank you, please.  [Pause]
[Jury panel into court]
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Excellent, everyone has a chair.  Good afternoon ladies and gentlemen, can you all see and hear me?  
JURY PANEL:  Yes.  
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  First of all may I thank you all for the considerable trouble you have each already taken filling out the questionnaires that you were given this morning.  As you appreciate the reason for this whole exercise is that the trial that’s going to take place in this court is expected to take substantially longer than the ordinary two week jury sitting and we entirely understand as a court centre that not everyone can take the time needed to deal with a 10 or 11 week trial, we entirely understand that, hence the questionnaire and hence indeed certain further precautions that I’m about to take, but before I go any further ladies and gentlemen, can I just be clear about this, that the reason you are all in court is that I’ve been able to read through the questionnaires that you have filled in and in each of your cases you have either indicated that there is no problem at all, in other words you’ve answered no to all of the questions in the questionnaire, or you have given a different response to one or more of the questions but I have checked those responses with the parties in the case and they do not present a problem.  So, for example, one of your number indicated a holiday that was booked one weekend within the trial window.  Not a problem, we don’t sit weekends, we only sit on week days.  
Another of your number indicated an appointment at 8 o’clock one morning.  Well again in principle that shouldn’t be a problem, we anticipate sitting at 10 or 10:30 in the morning and if in fact that appointment was likely to cause any delay we could probably work around it.  More generally several of you have indicated indirect connections with one or other of the institutions listed in one of the lists that accompanied the form.  Again I’ve checked with the parties in the case and there are no problems.  So essentially you’ve either answered no to all of the questions or if you haven’t we’ve checked and they don’t present a problem.
So that’s the basis I’m proceeding on, I’m proceeding on the basis that as things stand there is nothing coming from you that means that you can’t sit as jurors in the trial that’s going to happen in this case and just pausing there, if any of you believes that is wrong, if any of you believes that there is some pressing reason why you cannot or should not sit on the jury please either raise it now or check, because one of the precautions I’m going to take is I’m going to give you overnight, all of you, to double check the position, to ensure that there’s nothing you don’t know about.  
Well how do you do that?  Well, check with your family, check with your work if appropriate.  Things that occasionally happen in this sort of situation surprise holidays, I don’t want to spoil any surprises but if any of you have a birthday or a significant anniversary coming up now’s the time just to check there’s something you don’t know about happening on a week day that would affect your ability to sit on the jury.  So I give you overnight to do that.  Come tomorrow morning there will come a cut off point, there will come a point where you’ve either so to speak put up or shut up, you’ve either told me that there’s a problem or I proceed on the basis there is no problem and if you are balloted on to the jury that’s it, you’re on the jury for the duration of the trial, you understand that.  
Now, ladies and gentlemen, the other precaution I want to take is this.  On the form necessarily you were given written details and that’s included names and that has included in particular the names of the two accused men, I emphasise the word accused, that’s all it is at this stage, it’s for the jury to decide ultimately the outcome of any trial, but the two accused men in this case Christopher Joynson and Robert Smedley.  Occasionally a face means more than a name and for that reason I’m going to ask Mr. Joynson and Mr. Smedley if you wouldn’t mind please to stand up and gentlemen if you please would look at the jury panel, ladies and gentlemen if you please would look at Mr. Joynson and Mr. Smedley and just check whether you recognise either or both of them now that you see them in the flesh and if you do or if you believe you do or if you’re in any doubt please indicate and we’ll make further enquiry.  Likewise, Mr. Joynson and Mr. Smedley, if there’s anyone you believe you do or may recognise please indicate.  No, thank you very much, do sit down.  Ladies and gentlemen, I didn’t see or hear any sign of recognition from any of you, I take it none of you recognises or believes you do either of these gentlemen.  I’m very grateful.  

I’m sure you understand that the purpose of all of this is to ensure that no-one who sits on the jury has any prior knowledge of or connection to the case they’re going to try, obviously the jury must be entirely independent of the subject matter of the trial and those involved in it.  That is the purpose of all of this.  My apologies if any of it has struck you as laborious.  It’s just that this is going to be a trial of substantial duration and it is worth taking precautions at the outset in an effort to prevent ideally any problems later on.  So, ladies and gentlemen, unless there’s anything that any of you wish to raise with me now, as I say I give you all overnight, please do check, make whatever enquiries or checks you consider appropriate, tomorrow morning if there is any update, if you have found out anything which affects your ability to sit on the jury or may do then draw it to my attention but if you don’t then we will simply proceed to the ballot.  Any questions, anything you wish to tell me?  [No audible reply]  Very good.  Would you be back please in good time for 10:30.  I say in good time, apart from anything else you appreciate it takes a bit of time to get 30 of you upstairs in the lifts but we’ll aim to start in court at 10:30 and I look forward to seeing you then.  Thank you very much indeed.  

[Jury panel out of court]

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.  Well, so far as the empanelment process is concerned obviously we will see what, if anything, the overnight adjournment brings by way of effect, but in terms of empanelment, as you see we were able to accommodate the 30 by using the jury box, obviously we can’t do that at the time of empanelment and so what I’m likely to ask is for that limited part of the proceedings if the back two rows of counsel’s benches could be vacated simply to provide seating for panel members up to the point where we’ve got our 12 and I can release everyone else.  Mr. Dyer?
MR. DYER:  Well there’ll be 14 initially.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  I’m so sorry, 12 plus 2, absolutely, but I simply ask to have available the back two rows for seating for that limited purpose.  Is there anything else either in relation to empanelment or more generally that any of you would wish to raise or can we simply resume the bad character and severance matters?

MR. DYER:  Well we can resume but just in terms of timetable.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  From a practical point of view it doesn’t look as if we can have witness evidence on Wednesday.
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Right.

MR. DYER:  We’d anticipated at an early stage that Thursday was, your Honour will recall a number of hearings ago that Thursday was a good day to try to start the evidence and the video links have been set up for that day …..

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Right.

MR. DYER:  ….. it’s a little, well we really can’t rejig the witnesses …..

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.

MR. DYER:  ….. to accommodate evidence on Wednesday.  Having said that, clearly the empanelment, the swearing of the jury, any further responses overnight and your Honour’s comments to the jury in any event is going to take a little time.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  It will.

MR. DYER:  Followed by the opening which will take us into the afternoon and I anticipate that there will be some further legal discussion which would take us into Wednesday.  I say that, I don’t want to anticipate any legal argument or application but I’ve touched on disclosure, a fairly discrete part of disclosure, it may affect the ambit of the defence case potentially and having spoken to my learned friends I suspect that is something that could usefully be at least discussed on Wednesday even if the jury can’t be doing anything useful on Wednesday.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes, all right.  So, so far as the jury is concerned really they will be released from close of play tomorrow until Thursday.

MR. DYER:  That’s certainly our expectation.  
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes, okay.   Timetable and estimates really.  How long do you expect to need to present the prosecution case?
MR. DYER:  Well this is something else we’ve touched upon over the lunch adjournment.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Right.

MR. DYER:  I’ve asked my learned friends to put their heads together to come up with a joint estimate of time for cross-examining witnesses.  I anticipated that the prosecution case, I think it was 4 to 5 weeks, your Honour will recall the perhaps pessimistic estimate of 11 which took account of half term, a week we’re not sitting.  Counsel presently involved in the case all have been of the view that the trial can be dealt with more quickly than that in perhaps, well I think the estimates have been perhaps 6 to 8 weeks.  I anticipate that if I can discuss the witness schedule with my learned friends that we may be able to reduce yet further the time for the presentation of the prosecution case to perhaps 4 with a fair wind, but that’s a hope.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Is that 4 weeks including this week or is that 4 weeks as it were from the start of evidence?

MR. DYER:  Well, really 4 weeks from the start of evidence …..

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Okay.

MR. DYER:  ….. but it’s difficult to be precise.  I think I will have a far better idea after discussing the matter further with my learned friends this afternoon.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.  As things stand it doesn’t sound as though the trial window is especially generous because although on a calendar it spans 11 weeks, allowing for the week when we’re not sitting and other days when we’re not sitting there’s a subtraction from that 11 of 2 plus weeks I think to begin with.  So the starting point is probably 8, 8½ usable weeks.  So I don’t think any of us should approach this, I’m not suggesting anyone is, on the basis that there is time to spare.

MR. DYER:  No, absolutely not.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  I don’t believe there is.

MR. DYER:  No.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  All right.  Anything else in relation to estimate?

MISS HUSSAIN:  No, nothing to add.

MR. SWIFT:  No, thank you, your Honour.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  I mean I’m, I try to avoid timetabling of questioning and certainly I don’t intend to start in that way but we’ll just have to see how we get along and depending on progress it is an option.
MISS HUSSAIN:  Well the conversations we’ve had so far have been along the lines of indicating that we’re not going to be as long as might have been imagined.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No.

MISS HUSSAIN:  So in fact the wind is blowing the other way.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Good.  Thank you.  Anything else prior to resumption of the legal argument?

MR. DYER:  No.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Very good.  Mr. Dyer?

MR. DYER:  Your Honour, could I check that your Honour has the most up to date copy of the indictment.  The easiest way to check is to look at count 4 on the indictment.  

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  

MR. DYER:  Which should have three representations.
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes, it does.

MR. DYER:  Yes.  So that count 4 and over the page count 5 are the counts we’re concerned with.  I don’t know whether your Honour wishes to hear from me generally in relation to the severance argument or whether your Honour would wish to hear from my learned friends first?

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  I think from the defence first as it’s their application …..
MR. DYER:  Yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  ….. so please.  Thank you, Miss Hussain?

MISS HUSSAIN:  May I refer your Honour to the submissions that were made in writing?

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MISS HUSSAIN:  They are rather full.  Can I start perhaps at paragraph 9 really?

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  
MISS HUSSAIN:  I’ve somewhat really dealt with both issues, that of severance and then by way of a heading gone on to discuss whether in fact those matters which are the subject of count 4 might in any event be relevant bad character evidence because it seems to me that one way or another those features then could find themselves back in the case …..

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MISS HUSSAIN:  ….. under a feature of bad character and I’ve dealt with that in order to make the point that for the reasons that I have set out we would submit not necessarily so, but the starting point from the defence perspective is that whilst of course the matters that are being asserted within count 4 are offences of dishonesty they are very different in nature to the rest of the indictment.  Simply by virtue of them being offences of dishonesty is not sufficient of itself to make the offences similar in character.  Those misrepresentations that we see defined within count 4, as I say, are very different and there is no overlap in terms of witnesses.  Therefore, the court could quite easily, if it felt appropriate to do so, sever that count and allow for that to be the subject of what would be a short trial.  So the usual considerations of convenience perhaps don’t of themselves lend itself to that count.  
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  I appreciate your concern with count 4 because that’s the charge that your client faces but count 5 against the co-defendant goes with it and in reality, I simply ask the defence generally, in reality is this a case of either severing both or severing neither?  Realistically could count 4 go but count 5 stay or vice versa?

MR. SWIFT:  Your Honour, no ----- 
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Because they’re effectively different sides of a coin aren’t they?

MR. SWIFT:  Your Honour, yes.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MISS HUSSAIN:  Yes, they are.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.  Thank you.
MISS HUSSAIN:  The main concern that we have is the risk of prejudice.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MISS HUSSAIN:  In fact the actual prejudice that will be caused and there are two issues, that is of prejudice firstly and also the disproportionate amount of time that would be required in order to defend count 4 which would bear the risk of detracting the jury from focussing on the remainder of the indictment which is really what this case always started off as being about and I appreciate the shape of the Crown’s case can change.  At page 5 of the submissions, point 5, I sought to set out just the distinctions between that which is pleaded within count 4 and the rest of the indictment.
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MISS HUSSAIN:  And at point 6 the point we make is that of course that the matters that are within count 4, certainly the 1 and 2, points 1 and 2, does have the effect of the defendant having to go back a significant number of years in order to be able to defend those assertions.  Not so much in terms of particular number 2 but particular number 1 requires him to go back and to go into the details of what he was involved in at Fosse Primary School, what his employment involved, the kinds of roles he undertook and that’s a whole area of evidence that would need to be explored and with the passage of time of course he suffers at least some handicap in being able to effectively do that.  

It could be said that that would be true of any defendant who is facing allegations that are from a number of years ago but the difficulty is that the view that the jury might take of count 4, and if they came to the view, any view adverse to the defendant’s position, then that would necessarily impact upon the remainder of the indictment and it’s for that reason that we say if at all possible, if it is at all possible for count 4 to be litigated separately then that course should be taken in fairness to the defendant given that the nature of the allegations are so very different and although overlap or have themes that ride into issues concerning the main indictment if I can put it that way, they are so very compartmentalised and different that they can be tried separately and that way it would avoid the prejudice that will be caused to this defendant in having to have the fact that he has two cautions being revealed before this jury.  He is entitled, as any defendant is ordinarily, unless there is some good reason for this not to occur, to have the jury sit in judgment of him not knowing of his previous bad character, but with the introduction of count 4 that right will necessarily be eroded and it will have an impact upon the rest of the indictment.  
There has been some discussion this morning and this afternoon as to the extent to which any jury would need to be made aware of the details of those cautions.  The difficulty is, my assessment of the position is that so far as the 2001 caution is concerned any reference to the nature of that caution will be prejudicial.  Even if one were to place the details in “context”, if we were to take the description that has helpfully been provided by my learned friend within his skeleton document, again there’s all kind of difficulties and inferences and connotations that the jury might seek to draw from those circumstances.  Whatever the circumstances those facts do not bode well for the defendant.  They are, they might in fact be classed by some as there’s always a degree of how scandalous any behaviour is but in particularly a teacher behaving in that manner would be considered reprehensible to say the least, potentially scandalous, without wanting to dramatise it in any way but it is not a good set of circumstances for this jury to learn of.

So, what’s the alternative?  Is, if the court were not minded to sever this count to simply tell the jury that he had cautions, well then the difficulty with that is the jury’s not going to know or rather they will be left to their own guesswork as to what those cautions may or may not have related to.  So far simpler, and I don’t mean to be simplistic about it, but to avoid those difficulties and to avoid the risk of inevitable prejudice which there will be, the safest course would be for the court to order that that count and, as we’ve discussed count 5, be severed from this indictment.  Those are my submissions.  
JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you very much indeed.  Mr. Swift?

MR. SWIFT:  Your Honour, I can perhaps be a little briefer.  There’s my written application on 4th July.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

Mr. SWIFT:  I adopt my learned friend’s submissions but if I may, your Honour, just raise these as issues.  Clearly it’s prejudice argument so far as Mr. Smedley is concerned.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. SWIFT:  As I understand the Crown’s position and just turning to how probative Miss Evans is, it would appear, and no doubt I’ll be corrected if I’m wrong, that the Crown are in fact saying that so far as the cautions are concerned that they’re not such as would prevent Mr. Joynson teaching at a school.  So they don’t go that far, as I understood it, it was the Crown asserting that they should have been disclosed and then there would be due consideration.  So I put that into the probative category.

So far as Mr. Smedley is concerned, looking at the indictment, the fraud at which count 5 is aimed is in effect encompassed in any event by count 3.  The dates of count 3 extend beyond and include count 5 and there’s assertions within count 5 and 3, unless I’m looking at a different indictment which I don’t believe I am.  Count 3 reads in terms of a failure to disclose the relationship and that’s repeated within count 5 with the addition of dispensing with the requirement for the criminal records check.  So when one considers that and the application that’s made to exclude or to sever count 5, so far as the Crown’s case against Mr. Smedley is concerned it wouldn’t impact upon the fraudulent allegations in any event.  In those circumstances and adopting my learned friend’s submissions that your Honour could quite easily sever both counts 4 and 5.  Can I assist any further?

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  No, thank you very much.  Mr. Dyer?

MR. DYER:  Could I just deal briefly with each of the points raised in turn.  Firstly in relation to nexus, it’s suggested broadly that there is insufficient nexus certainly between count 4 in relation to Mr. Joynson and the other counts relating to him.  Well the prosecution would say that there’s a nexus in terms of time, this of course occurs in the midst of the other fraudulent behaviour, the counts are in chronological order, these are counts 4 and 5, the people involved of course, the fact that the relationship of Mr. Joynson and Mr. Smedley is at the heart of these allegations and that’s in dispute, all of the allegations concern Mr. Joynson’s work at the university whether it be as an employee or as a consultant, they concern misrepresentations as far as Mr. Joynson’s concerned and at the heart of the case on all, well, the entirety of the case really is the secret relationship that the Crown say existed.  So there is ample nexus between the offences, counts 4 and 5 and the other counts on the indictment.  
It’s suggested that a disproportionate amount of time would be taken up defending count 4 and there would be a handicap because of the passage of time in trying to adduce evidence as to the work he did at Fosse.  Well again, these counts are not the earliest in time, the earliest in time are counts 1 and 2 which deal with the Fosse project and evidence is going to be heard about that in any event and that pre-dates the actual allegations in counts 4 and 5, but the jury are going to be asked to consider that short time he was at Fosse and the work he did in any event, or didn’t do, at Fosse and potentially at the university.  If there is any handicap by reason of passage of time in relation to any of the counts the jury no doubt will be given appropriate directions in relation to that.  
Your Honour knows that the prosecution have abandoned bad character application in relation to what was alleged to be a false reference and so on because the document doesn’t exist and have taken account of that but these are specific allegations that the defendants can give or, sorry, Mr. Joynson can give evidence about in relation to count 4.  

As far as prejudice is concerned, well I’ve already set out the prosecution position on that, there are alternative ways of dealing with it but whatever form of words is used and however much information the jury are given, undoubtedly your Honour can give the jury a very strong direction that they must not speculate if they are not given the detail of the caution.  

As far as counts 3 and 5 are concerned, my learned friend Mr. Swift refers to the particulars and refers to the parallels, the common ground if I put it that way in terms of what was going on and the nature of the abuse but that goes to the very heart of the reason why these matters should be heard together.  The secret relationship which is still not admitted is at the heart of all these allegations, it’s a course of conduct and it’s a course of conduct which takes place over a period of time.  These are reasons why these issues should be, these matters should be tried together, it makes no sense to try them separately and hear about these things in separate trials in my submission.
As far as my learned friend’s submissions are concerned on behalf of Mr. Smedley, it is surely right that in theory there could be two separate trials but that isn’t the question for the court.  The question for the court is whether it is proper that they be tried together or whether there is prejudice which would lead your Honour to a different conclusion.  Here there isn’t sufficient prejudice demonstrated and in fact the issues, the nexus is such and the issues are such that these matters ought to be tried together.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  Those are my submissions.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you very much.  Miss Hussain, Mr. Swift, anything to add?

MISS HUSSAIN:  I think from the defence perspective it really does come down to the fact of being revealed before the jury the fact of his cautions and ordinarily he would have a protection against that being revealed before any jury sitting in judgment of him on an indictment which is very different in nature to that which is the subject of count 1.  

MR. SWIFT:  I’ve nothing to add, thank you, your Honour.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you very much.  I’m very grateful to all parties both for their written and verbal submissions and I will give a ruling in writing which I will circulate probably by email as soon as I can but later today.  Is there anything else that we can deal with at this stage?

MR. DYER:  Yes, your Honour, but not in court.  What I was going to seek to do is make sure the jury bundles are ready for everybody …..

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Yes.

MR. DYER:  ….. your Honour, my learned friends and the jury save for some of the colour copying before we depart so that everybody has a copy.  So I was going to get on with that now, I think it’s been done, we need to check.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you.

MR. DYER:  Would your Honour excuse me one moment?

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Please.  

MR. DYER:  Yes, we just need to check the jury bundles.

JUDGE CUMMINGS:  Thank you very much.  Well unless there’s anything else that can or should be dealt with in open court then I’ll simply release everyone overnight, 10:30 as I say, bail as before, I have given general direction, and we’ll resume then.  Thank you, please don’t wait. 
- Court adjourned -
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